FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2014 FEB 24 AM 9:17

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY

DEPUTY



No. 45739-3-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

HARTSTONE POINTE MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION, Respondent,

v.

JOHN E. DIEHL, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John E. Diehl pro se
679 Pointes Dr. W.
Shelton WA 98584
360-426-3709

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in granting the request of Hartstene Pointe Maintenance Association ("HPMA") for declaratory judgment that the governing documents do not grant owner-members a right to appeal decisions of the HPMA Board of Directors ("Board").

2. The trial court erred in granting HPMA's request for declaratory judgment that its Board has the right to exclude a Board member when it meets in closed sessions to discuss likely or pending litigation, when its majority believes that the member may be an adversary in litigation; and the court erred in denying Appellant's request for declaratory judgment that he as a Board member was entitled to disclosure of communications from the corporate attorney regarding the right of owners to appeal decisions of the HPMA Board.

3. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's request for declaratory judgment that HPMA's revised Hazard Tree Policy ("Policy") is invalid.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Given that HPMA's Rules and Regulations ("Rules") state that owners who are adversely affected by a Board decision may receive a hearing by the Board when they request, did the trial court err in concluding that no Board decision is subject to such review? (Assignment of Error 1.)

May a minority of corporate directors be excluded from a meeting of the corporate board, even when they have no beneficial interest in a matter before the board, if the board

majority believes that the minority may potentially be adverse parties in litigation with the corporation? (Assignment of Error 2.)

When members of a corporate board of directors disagree about a matter of policy or an interpretation of law, does the majority have a right to use corporate funds to secure a legal opinion, but not to disclose this opinion to the minority? (Assignment of Error 2.)

Given that HPMA's Rules define "notice" as "notice given in person or notice given in writing by first class United States mail," does a policy that denies owner-members such notice when they may be adversely affected by an HPMA action conflict with HPMA's governing documents.? (Assignment of Error 3.)

Does HPMA's Policy set vague, over-inclusive standards for labeling trees as "imminent hazards," inconsistent with the county's Resource Ordinance? (Assignment of Error 3.)

Does HPMA's Policy grant powers to its manager inconsistent with HPMA's Rules and the county's Resource Ordinance? (Assignment of Error 3.)

Does HPMA's Policy impose unreasonable restrictions on an owner-member's appeal of the manager's decision to remove trees? (Assignment of Error 3.)

Given that HPMA's Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("CC&Rs") provide that all owners have benefit of the Common Area on the same terms, may HPMA allow its manager to approve tree removal at his discretion when such removal might not be approved under the Rules if requested by an owner-member? (Assignment of Error 3.)

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant does not take issue with the trial court's findings, but only with its legal conclusions and order. The issues in this case pertain to the interpretation of HPMA's governing documents and the Homeowners Association Act (Ch. 64.38 RCW). HPMA's most basic governing documents are its Articles of Incorporation and CC&Rs. As authorized in RCW 64.38.020, and unless otherwise provided in the governing documents, the CC&Rs may be supplemented and explicated by its Rules and Bylaws.

This case grew out of a previous case. In 2009, HPMA's Board adopted a proposal to remove about 400 trees from a part of the Common Area. Diehl, both an owner and a Board director at the time, opposed the project, believing that such extensive removals would adversely affect the ambiance of a community that had a long commitment to "primitive" and "natural" management of vegetation in its "greenbelts," and mindful that mistakes made in removal of large trees can take, not just years, but generations to correct.

In *Diehl v. Hartstene Pointe Maintenance Association*, Mason County Superior Court granted a permanent injunction against the project as proposed. The matter was eventually resolved through a stipulated order requiring HPMA to replant trees to replace two that it removed in violation of the court's injunction., but allowing development of other management policies affecting its greenbelts. CP 225-229.

In September 2011, HPMA's Board voted 3-1 (two members absent, and Diehl dissenting) to adopt a n Interim Hazard Tree Policy, by which trees in the Common Area

might be selected for trimming or removal. CP 4, ¶ 7. Diehl, concerned that this new policy gave such latitude to decision makers as to permit piecemeal what had been proposed in 2009, complained of the action. While he saw little prospect that the Board would reverse its vote, Diehl was mindful that under HPMA's CC&Rs, "[n]o owner may sue to prevent or abate an actual or threatened violation of these covenants without [complaint and demand to the association of an actual or threatened violation of the covenants] and without having exhausted the remedies available within the Association." Ex. 5, Article X, § 3.¹

HPMA's Rules provide a process for registering and hearing a complaint. "Any owner adversely affected by a decision of the Board of Directors may appeal to the Board of Directors for a hearing." Ex. 9, Article II, § 4. Accordingly, Diehl filed an appeal for a hearing. However, the Board's president, questioning whether Diehl was entitled to a hearing, sought an opinion from HPMA's attorney. CP 4.² When the president proposed to discuss the attorney's opinion in an executive meeting of the Board, he asked Diehl to recuse himself from this meeting. Diehl declined, maintaining that he was entitled to disclosure of the attorney's opinion on the question, and to participate in Board discussion of the issue of

¹ HPMA has several sets of CC&Rs, applicable to divisions of Hartstene Pointe developed at different times. However, these different sets of CC&Rs are identical so far as they concern the provisions in controversy in this case. References here to the CC&Rs will be to those applicable to so-called "Island Houses," which are duplexes, each half of which is separately owned. These are the CC&Rs applicable to Diehl's residence.

² HPMA has not been consistent in its interpretation of the rule allowing appeal of Board decisions. When another Board director, Larry Wendt, appealed a Board decision not to fine an owner who cut down trees in the Common Area without a permit, the Board heard his appeal, and imposed a fine for the violation. See Exhibits 51 and 52.

whether owners were entitled to hearings when they were adversely affected by Board decisions. CP 5-6, ¶¶ 24-29, 102, and 211. The Board president then determined that the matter would not be considered in the proposed executive session. CP 5, ¶ 23. At the Board's next meeting the Board president presented Diehl with a written demand that he recuse himself, threatening legal action if he refused. CP 215. Diehl again declined, and the Board majority subsequently voted to file a complaint for declaratory judgment against him. Ex. 48. This complaint was filed November 30, 2011, and Diehl filed counterclaims with his answer on December 20, claiming that the adopted Policy was invalid, and that he, as a director without any beneficial interest in the matter, was entitled to disclosure of the HPMA attorney's opinion, and to a hearing under HPMA's governing documents regarding the validity of the Policy. CP 193-224 and 179-192.

Diehl filed a motion for summary judgment. The trial court invalidated the Interim Hazard Tree Policy in an order entered September 4, 2012. CP 87-88. HPMA subsequently amended its Policy, and Diehl amended his counterclaims to ask for a determination of invalidity regarding the revised Policy. CP 89-101. Following trial in June and July of 2013, the court concluded that the Board majority might properly have excluded Diehl from executive sessions dealing with issues where he might be an adversary. CP 3-15, particularly ¶ 8 at 10 and ¶ 11-12 at 12. It also concluded that owner-members are not entitled to appeal Board decisions under HPMA's governing documents, and that the revised Hazard Tree Policy was valid. CP 12, ¶ 14; CP 13, ¶ 18. Diehl has appealed on these issues.

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While accepting the trial court's findings of fact, this appeal challenges its legal conclusions, contending that the court's conclusions lack substantive support in its findings of fact, and that it erred in its interpretation of HPMA's governing documents and the Homeowners' Association Act (Ch 64.38 RCW).

First, Diehl sought to exhaust his administrative remedies, as required by HPMA's CC&Rs, by following a procedure expressly provided in HPMA's Rules. Whatever may be said about the merits of allowing owner-members a hearing when they are adversely affected by a Board decision, the language of HPMA's Rules expressly provides for the kind of request for review Diehl attempted, notwithstanding the trial court's determination to the contrary.

Second, the court failed to point to any facts that disqualified Diehl from exercising his privileges and responsibilities as a member of the Board when the Board's adoption of its Hazard Tree Policy was being considered. In discussion of the preliminary question of whether owner-members have a right to appeal Board decisions, Diehl, who had no beneficial interest in the matter, had the same rights as other directors to have access to information paid for from corporate funds, and would have benefited by a recognition of the rights of owner-members only as much as other owner-members.

Third, the potential for owner-members being adversely affected by removal of trees near their property is undisputed, and so there is an undisputed need under HPMA's

governing documents to notify owners who might be adversely affected prior to undertaking such removals, unless the trees in question pose an imminent hazard. HPMA's Rules specify that notice is to be either by mail or personal service, not by the kind of posting provided in HPMA's Hazard Tree Policy, which does not provide for effective notification, but only for the possibility that owner-members may learn of actions adversely affecting them if they make continual inquiry, by frequently scrutinizing the HPMA website or the bulletin boards in the clubhouse or by calling the HPMA office. Whatever might be deemed reasonable notice if "notice" were not defined in the governing documents is scarcely relevant when "notice" is so defined.

Further, there are several other inconsistencies between HPMA's Hazard Tree Policy and its governing documents or between the Policy and applicable law. The Policy should be found invalid because (1) the Policy sets criteria for tree removal inconsistent with a county ordinance designed to protect critical areas and their buffers, some of which are found in the Common Area; (2) the Policy grants powers to the manager inconsistent with HPMA's Rules; (3) the Policy imposes unreasonable restrictions on an owner-member's appeal of a manager's decision to remove trees; and (4) the Policy is inconsistent with the CC&R's provision that all owner-members are entitled to have benefit of the Common Area on the same terms.

Writ large, this case raises questions about how corporate accountability may be achieved. As a matter of public policy, corporate boards should be discouraged from being

more closely aligned with the interests of dominant directors than with the interests of the organization they serve. It is not surprising that volunteer corporate directors of homeowners' associations fail to distinguish between the interests of the corporation and their personal interests. The problem of accountability can be exacerbated when a corporate attorney identifies the interest of the corporation with the preferences of the dominant directors. This court is asked to set some limits on the ability of a dominant faction on a corporate board to shut out minority views.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in denying Diehl any right to a hearing before the HPMA Board.

The trial court granted HPMA's request for declaratory judgment that HPMA's governing instruments do not grant owner-members a right to appeal decisions of the HPMA Board. CP 14, ¶ 2. Yet, HPMA's Rules, Article II, § 4, expressly state, "Any owner adversely affected by a decision of the Board of Directors may appeal to the Board of Directors for a hearing." Ex. 9. When such an appeal is made, the Board is required "to consider the appeal at its next scheduled meeting and make a final determination within 15 days after the hearing." *Id.*

HPMA argued that Article II, § 4, of the Rules does not mean what it says. In its complaint, notwithstanding the fact that the rule in question does not state any limitation on an owner-member's right to a hearing on Board decisions that he believes may adversely affect him, HPMA contended that this section "pertains only to decisions of the HPMA

Board relating to the enforcement of HPMA's Rules, and specifically, Notices of Violation." CP 200, ¶ 4.6. The trial court offered an even more restrictive interpretation, disallowing an appeal to the Board even when a Notice of Violation had been issued, if the Board had voted on the matter. CP 11, ¶ 5.

This court should consider the plain language of Article II, § 4. The Rule plainly states that owner-members have a right to a hearing on Board decisions adversely affecting them, without regard to whether such decisions accuse an owner-member of a violation.

Although a court's objective in interpreting restrictive covenants is to determine the intent of the parties, in determining intent, language is given its ordinary and common meaning. *Metzner v. Wojdyla*, 125 Wn.2d 445, 450, 886 P.2d 154 (1994); *Mains Farm Homeowners Ass'n v. Worthington*, 121 Wn.2d 810, 815, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993); *Krein v. Smith*, 60 Wn. App. 809, 811, 807 P.2d 906, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1002 (1991); cited in *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 621. Unambiguous language will be given its plain meaning. *Burton v. Douglas County*, 65 Wn.2d 619, 622, 399 P.2d 68 (1965). Ambiguity is not to be read into a contract that is otherwise clear. See *McDonald v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 733, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992).

Moreover, there is supportive contextual evidence that Article II, § 4, should be construed as meaning what it says. Article II of the Rules is headed "INTERPRETATION, ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THESE RULES AND REGULATIONS," which is a broad description of its content, lending no support to HPMA's notion that appeals are

limited to Board decisions about alleged violations by owner-members. Article II, § 2, of the Rules, repeating language found in the CC&Rs, suggests the broad scope of Article II, by providing that "[a]ny owner may complain of an actual or threatened violation of these Covenants to the Board of Directors, and request that the Association prevent or abate the same. . . ." Ex. 9. Because Article II, § 8, provides separately for owner-member appeals of alleged violations, it bolsters the conclusion that Article II, § 4, is **not** limited to appeals pertinent to alleged violations by owner-members. Ex. 9. In other words, on HPMA's interpretation, Article II, § 4, becomes redundant in light of Article II, § 8, which is contrary to principles of statutory and contractual interpretation. Thus, Article II, § 4, is properly construed as providing a specific procedure, i.e., a hearing, by which owner-members have an opportunity to be heard about any decision of the Board where they believe themselves adversely affected, when they believe that there is an actual or threatened violation of HPMA's CC&Rs, prior to seeking judicial relief.

This procedure is consistent with Article X, § 3, of the CC&Rs, which provides that no owner may sue to prevent or abate an actual or threatened violation without having complained to the Board (or the Architectural Control Committee if such a committee exists) and "without having exhausted the administrative remedies available to him within the Association." Ex. 5. Article II, § 4, of the Rules simply spells out how to handle such a complaint procedurally, and provides such an opportunity for an administrative remedy.

This rule is reasonable, and not simply because it offers owner-members a

procedure of due process, possibly a way to resolve a dispute without resort to litigation. It is also reasonable because it allows an administrative remedy to owner-members who may have received no notice of an impending decision before it was made, and so had no practical opportunity to be heard in advance of the decision.

In concluding that HPMA's owner-members have no right to appeal decisions made through a vote of the Board, the trial court cited no authority. Oddly, though agreeing that Article II, § 4, "must be given its clear meaning," it concluded that "[no] reasonable reading would permit an appeal of an action taken by the Board upon a motion and after a vote by the Board at a Board meeting." CP 11, ¶¶ 4-5. Not even HPMA has offered such a reading, since even HPMA agrees that owner-members are, under the rule, entitled to appeal Board decisions relating to alleged violations of HPMA's Rules.

HPMA may not have been required to include Article II, § 4, in its Rules to supplement and explicate its CC&Rs. But given that this provision is part of HPMA's governing documents, and the context in which it appears, the rule should be construed to mean what it says.

Diehl argued that he was adversely affected by the Board decision at issue and alleged that this decision was in violation of the Covenants. Neither HPMA nor the trial court in its findings disputed Diehl's claim to have been adversely affected or denied that he was expressing a concern about a policy potentially violative of HPMA's CC&Rs. Accordingly, Article II, § 4, provides that he should have been granted a hearing at the next

regular Board meeting following receipt of his appeal. HPMA's refusal to conduct a hearing was in violation of its own governing documents and in breach of its fiduciary duty under RCW 64.38.025(1). The trial court's ruling, denying all appeals of Board decisions, was contrary to the express language of the governing documents.

2. The trial court erred in allowing board majorities to exclude board minorities from closed meetings and to withhold material information from them.

The trial court granted declaratory judgment that the HPMA Board had the right to exclude Board member Diehl from closed meetings of the Board. CP 14, ¶ 1 and ¶ 3. The court found that when Diehl attempted to get a hearing on the Board's adoption of its Interim Hazard Tree Policy that the Board president, Todd Coward, had sought the opinion of HPMA counsel because he "did not see any basis for an appeal." CP 4, ¶ 11. Coward discussed the issue of whether owners had a right to appeal Board decisions with other Board members and HPMA counsel. CP 4, ¶ 12. Although Coward shared a copy of the legal opinion with all other Board members, he withheld it from Diehl because he believed the HPMA Board was in an adversarial position with Diehl. CP 5, ¶ 15. The trial court found no error in this, stating, "In Diehl's threatened /proposed litigation Diehl was wearing his "owner member" hat." CP 9, ¶ 61.

The trial court did not find that Diehl had a conflict of interest. It found that his refusal to recuse himself from two closed Board meetings did not represent any breach of his duties as a Board member. CP 10, ¶ 1. The trial court cited no authority in support of its

conclusion that Diehl might be excluded from closed meetings of the Board to consider whether owner-members might appeal Board decisions and whether the Interim Hazard Tree Policy was valid, or other matters of business before the Board. The trial court failed to recognize that a director on a homeowners' association board is entitled under the Homeowners' Association Act and the Nonprofit Corporation Act to all the rights and privileges of the office, including attending all board meetings and being informed of any advice provided to board members by corporate counsel paid with corporate funds, except where he has a conflict of interest regarding his fiduciary duties of loyalty and care, as defined by RCW 64.38.025(1) and RCW 24.03.127.

The law does not allow a dominant faction of a board of directors to shut out a minority, even a minority of one, on the ground that the minority is or may become adversarial to the board majority. While RCW 64.38.035(2) allows closed or "executive" sessions of a board of directors under specified circumstances, it does not authorize exclusion of any director from such a meeting.

Because, under RCW 64.38.025(1), directors of homeowners' associations have a fiduciary duty in performance of their work, they have a duty to disclose material facts to each other. See *Colonial Imports, Inc. v. Carlton N.W., Inc.*, 121 Wn.2d 726, 732, 853 P.2d 913 (1993), cited in *Kelsey Lane Homeowners Association v. Kelsey Lane Company, Inc.*, 125 Wn. App. 227, 242-243 (2005). Because by definition material information is such that it might be expected to induce action or forbearance, advice and

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