No. 45739-3-II

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Hartstene Pointe Maintenance Association, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

John E. Diehl, Respondent/Appellant

#### RESPONSIVE BRIEF OF HARTSTENE POINTE MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION

Kristin L. French, WSBA #41274 Attorney for Plaintiff/Respondent Hartstene Pointe Maintenance Association

> Robert W. Johnson, PLLC 103 S. 4<sup>th</sup> Street PO Box 1400 Shelton, WA 98584 Telephone: (360) 426-9728 Facsimile: (360) 426-1902

kfrench@hete.com

#

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

Diehl's argument regarding the need to afford an administrative remedy to owner-members who may have received no notice of an impending decision before it was made is misleading and should not be considered. Had Diehl produced a verbatim report of proceedings, testimony considered by the trial court would be before this Court. Such testimony establishes that all owner/members are afforded full opportunity to present their views and opinions during open Board meetings prior to Board actions.

Diehl's assertion regarding the HPMA Board's handling of the Larry Wendt appeal, presented as Footnote 2 in Diehl's appellate brief, should not be considered on appeal in the absence of a verbatim record of proceedings.

Testimony established that the Larry Wendt matter pertained to an enforcement action by the HPMA Board against a particular owner/member, and that the situation was factually distinguishable from Diehl's attempt to appeal the Board's broad management action / adoption of the hazard tree policy.

Diehl does appear to point out one legitimate issue regarding the "appeal" issue. It does appear that the trial court's order (specifically order paragraph number 2), while intended to address only the question of owner/members' "right to appeal" Board policy and management decisions (as the issue was

presented by HPMA in the underlying complaint for declaratory judgment), might be read as applying broadly to preclude *all* categories of appeal (including appeals that the trial court explicitly found are authorized by specific governing instrument sections, such as in the context of violation actions). CP 14, Order Paragraph 2. It is clear from the content of the pleadings and from the trial court's conclusions, particularly Conclusion No. 6, that the trial court intended its order to provide that the governing instruments "do not vest an owner member with any right to appeal to the Board the Board's adoption of the interim hazard tree policy or similar Board decisions" (as opposed to the outright prohibition on all owner member appeals that Diehl is asserting based on the language used in the trial court's order section). CP 10, Conclusion 3; CP 11, Conclusions 5 and 6. Diehl's argument in this respect contradicts the trial court's findings and conclusions. and if this Court deems necessary, the trial court's order paragraph 2 should simply be clarified as follows: "HPMA's request for Declaratory Judgment that HPMA's governing instruments do not grant owner-members a right to appeal to the Board the Board's adoption of the interim hazard tree policy or similar general management or policy decisions by the Board is GRANTED."

# B) DIEHL'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO RCW 64.38.035 AND ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATIONS PROVIDED IN THAT CONTEXT

Diehl has failed to provide an adequate record to enable this Court to review Diehl's arguments regarding whether he was or was not positioned as an adverse party poised to initiate litigation against HPMA. Diehl has explicitly agreed to accept the trial court's findings as verities, and has declined to produce any verbatim report of proceedings. The trial court heard testimony regarding Diehl's posture as an adverse owner/member threatening litigation against HPMA as a result of Diehl's personal dissatisfaction with the hazard tree policy and regarding Diehl's demand for formal appeal proceedings before the HPMA Board regarding the HPMA Board's adoption of the policy. The trial court entered explicit findings and conclusions that Diehl was an HPMA owner likely to bring litigation against HPMA in his capacity as an "owner-member," and that the communications that the HPMA Board intended to address in closed executive session involved the issue of Diehl's likely litigation against HPMA and communications from HPMA's legal counsel regarding the same. CP 8, Findings 42, 43; CP 9, Findings 60, 61.

Washington's Homeowners' Association statute, Chapter 64.38 RCW, provides that the board of directors of a homeowners association may convene

in closed executive session to, among other things, consult with legal counsel or consider communications with legal counsel and discuss likely or pending litigation. RCW 64.38.035(2) [now RCW 64.38.035(4)]. The trial court concluded that although Diehl was an HPMA Board member, Diehl was acting in an "owner-member" capacity when threatening litigation against HPMA, and Diehl was therefore required to absent himself from an executive HPMA Board meeting session called pursuant to RCW 64.38.035(2) [now RCW 64.38.035(4)] for the purpose of enabling the Board to consider legal counsel and discuss legal communications regarding Diehl's litigation. CP 8, Finding 42; CP 9, Finding 61; CP 11, Conclusion 9; CP 12, Conclusion 10, 11, 12. The trial court concluded that "the analysis in terms of whether a [homeowners' association] Board is entitled to convene in closed executive session and require a particular Board member to absent himself from such session is dependent upon which "hat" the particular Board member is wearing with respect to the issue presented. CP 11, Conclusion 8. The trial court concluded that "[w]here the particular Board member has his ownermember hat on and is acting in the capacity as an owner-member, and is involved in litigation or likely to be involved in litigation with the Board, and where that individual is also a Board member, that individual must absent himself from an executive Board meeting session called for the purpose of considering advice of legal counsel and discussing legal communications

regarding the likely or pending litigation involving the individual." CP 11, Conclusion 8 and 9.

The trial court's resolution of this matter makes sense given the specific factual findings by the trial court in this case. The trial court specifically found that Diehl was acting in the capacity as an adverse owner-member posed to initiate litigation against HPMA. Boards of directors in most homeowners' associations will be comprised of owner-members. Where an owner-member sitting as a board member takes a position that serves as the basis for litigation against the association itself, the unique and case-specific facts will dictate whether the individual is functioning in a capacity as an adverse owner-member, or as an adverse board-member. In the present case, the trial court found that Diehl was acting as an adverse owner-member and resolved the case on that basis. In the absence of a verbatim record, the trial court's findings of fact are accepted as verities. *Rekhi v. Olason*, 28 Wn.App. at 753.

It is reasonable to anticipate that homeowners' association boards will be subject to litigation in which owner-members are the adverse litigants. It seems clear that when the adverse owner-member litigant is not also sitting as a director on the association's board, the adverse owner-member can properly be excluded from an executive session, called pursuant to RCW 64.38.035(2)

[now RCW 64.38.035(4)], for the purpose of evaluating the litigation and legal counsel. But when an adverse owner-member litigant is also sitting as a director on the association's board at the time of the litigation, the question becomes whether the association board is entitled to meet in executive session, pursuant to RCW 64.38.035(2) [now RCW 64.38.035(4)], to evaluate the litigation and legal counsel without the adverse litigant (board member) being present. It makes sense to analyze such a situation just as the trial court did in this case: first determine whether the adverse owner-member is acting in his or her capacity as an "owner-member" or in his or her capacity as a "director." If the adverse owner-member is acting in his or her capacity as an "owner-member," the board should be able to meet for the purposes defined in RCW 64.38.035(2) [now RCW 64.38.035(4)] without the adverse litigant being present. That is as far as the trial court went in terms of findings and analysis in the present case, Diehl has not challenged the trial court's findings that he was acting in his capacity as an "owner-member" initiating litigation against HPMA, and in the absence of a verbatim report of proceedings, this is where the review should end on appeal.

Diehl has failed to provide an adequate record to enable this Court to review Diehl's argument regarding broader questions framed on appeal by Diehl as follows: (a) "may a minority of corporate directors be excluded from a

meeting of the corporate board, even when they have no beneficial interest in a matter before the board, if the board majority believes that the minority may potentially be adverse parties in litigation with the corporation;" and (b) "when members of a corporate board of directors disagree about a matter of policy or an interpretation of law, does the majority have a right to use corporate funds to secure a legal opinion, but not to disclose this opinion to the minority?" (Diehl's Assignments of Error 2).

The trial court addressed and resolved the issue of whether Diehl was entitled to be present in the executive session called pursuant to RCW 64.38.035, as detailed in the trial court's specific findings and conclusions. The findings and conclusions do not pertain in any way to the question now framed on appeal by Diehl regarding majorities and minorities of corporate boards and beneficial interests. Diehl, as the appellant, bears the burden of complying with the Rules of Appellate Procedure and perfecting the record on appeal so the reviewing court has before it all the evidence relevant to deciding the issues before it. *In re Marriage of Haugh*, 58 Wn.App. at 6; *Story v. Shelter Bay Co.*, 52 Wn.App. at 345. When the appellate record does not contain a verbatim report of proceedings, the findings of fact will be accepted as verities. *Rekhi v. Olason*, 28 Wn.App. at 753. A pro se litigant must comply with procedural rules. *City of Sunnyside v. Wendt*, 51 Wn.App. at 848. In the

absence of a verbatim record of proceedings, the trial court's findings of fact are to be accepted as true, and review limited to examining whether the conclusions follow from the findings. This Court should decline to reach the merits of the expanded issue now framed by Diehl on appeal, as Diehl declined to produce any portion of the verbatim report of proceedings. The findings and conclusions of the trial court fully resolve the issue regarding the executive session called pursuant to RCW 64.38.035, and the findings and conclusions do not address, in any way, Diehl's expanded issue now presented on appeal.

#### C) DIEHL'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3: HAZARD TREE POLICY

The hazard tree policy that is relevant in the context of this appeal is the final Hazard Tree Policy adopted by the HPMA Board on December 15, 2012. EX 1. The trial court made specific findings regarding this policy, and determined the policy to be valid and sufficient. Diehl's Assignment of Error 3 challenges the trial court's conclusions that the policy is (a) valid and sufficient, (b) is not vague or ambiguous, and (c) does provide HPMA owner/members adequate notice regarding proposed hazard tree management actions.

In terms of "notice" to owner/members regarding proposed hazard tree management activities, the hazard tree policy provides that the HPMA

Manager shall, after reviewing the arborist's report, generate a "Manager's Notice of Proposed Action." This, along with the arborist's report, shall be posted in the HPMA Clubhouse and on the HPMA website for 15 days. CP 8, Finding 47. The trial court concluded that the posting requirement in the hazard tree policy constitutes reasonable notice. CP 12, Conclusion 13. The trial court properly rejected Diehl's argument that HPMA's governing instruments define "notice" in a manner that would require first-class mail and/or personal service to each and every owner/member regarding proposed hazard tree management actions in the expansive wooded common areas surrounding developed areas. Diehl cites to HPMA's Rules and Regulations in an attempt to support Diehl's "notice" argument. However, this argument is flawed for the same reason that Diehl's argument regarding the "right of appeal" is flawed. With respect to both arguments, Diehl is attempting to improperly extend and apply terms and provisions that apply only in the context of enforcement of violations and regulatory actions directed at specific owner/members by the HPMA Board. Diehl's attempt to apply these terms and provisions to broad management and policy actions by the HPMA Board is not well founded, and would lead to unreasonable and unworkable restraints that would substantially hinder the Board's ability to properly manage the common areas under Board jurisdiction.

The policy provides for two separate categories of "hazardous trees":

"imminent hazard" and "non-imminent hazard." With respect to "non-imminent hazard" trees, any owner may file a written notice of intent that the owner is retaining an independent, professionally qualified arborist to prepare a second opinion. CP 8, Finding 48. Any owner may submit any written comments, objections, related information, or written alternative proposal that the owner wishes. CP 8, Finding 49. The trial court concluded that the policy affords owners with adequate notice and opportunity to be heard, is broad enough to enable any owner input, and is not unreasonably vague or biased. CP 12, Conclusion 13, 15, 17.

The trial court found that the hazard tree policy provides considerable specificity regarding the Manager's associated directives and duties. CP 8, Finding 51. The trial court found that the HPMA Board is vested with authority under RCW 64.38.020(3) to hire and discharge with managing agents to perform as required under the hazard tree policy, found that testimony by Managers indicated that no manager felt confused or inadequately guided by the hazard tree policy requirements, and that managers had ample opportunity to consult directly with the HPMA Board regarding any related questions or issues. CP 8, Finding 50, 52, 53. The trial court

concluded that HPMA's hazard tree policy does not grant unreasonable discretion, and does not grant overly broad powers to the HPMA manager.

Separate and apart from findings and conclusions by the trial court, Diehl attempts to raise on appeal the question of whether the policy is inconsistent with Mason County's Resource Ordinance. Diehl has failed to provide an adequate record to enable this Court to review Diehl's argument regarding broader questions framed on appeal regarding the Mason County Resource Ordinance. The Ordinance is not presented as an Exhibit in the record, and no related testimony has been presented in the absence of any verbatim report of proceedings. The trial court addressed and resolved issues regarding the validity of the hazard tree policy, as detailed in the trial court's specific findings and conclusions. The findings and conclusions do not pertain in any way to the question now framed on appeal by Diehl regarding the separate and distinct Mason County Resource Ordinance. Diehl, as the appellant, bears the burden of complying with the Rules of Appellate Procedure and perfecting the record on appeal so the reviewing court has before it all the evidence relevant to deciding the issues before it. *In re Marriage of Haugh*, 58 Wn.App. at 6; Story v. Shelter Bay Co., 52 Wn.App. at 345. When the appellate record does not contain a verbatim report of proceedings, the findings of fact will be accepted as verities. Rekhi v. Olason, 28 Wn.App. at 753. A pro se litigant

must comply with procedural rules. *City of Sumyside v. Wendt*, 51 Wn.App. at 848. In the absence of a verbatim record of proceedings, the trial court's findings of fact are to be accepted as true, and review limited to examining whether the conclusions follow from the findings. This Court should decline to reach the merits of the expanded issue regarding the Mason County Resource Ordinance framed by Diehl on appeal, as Diehl declined to produce any portion of the verbatim report of proceedings. Diehl's action to attempt to attach to his appellate brief certain text from the Mason County Resource is improper. The findings and conclusions of the trial court fully resolve all issues regarding validity of the hazard tree policy, and the findings and conclusions do not address, in any way, Diehl's expanded issue regarding the Mason County Resource Ordinance.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

HPMA respectfully requests that this Court deny review and/or affirm the order entered by the trial court.